

Name:	R.M.J. Vogel
ID:	6030641
Study:	International and
	European Tax Law
Supervisors:	mr. dr. M.J.G.A.M.
	Weerepas
	dr. M.G.H. Schaper
Date:	19 July 2016
Words:	14 473

Social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms in the EU: The need for effective measures



# Preface

Through this way, I want to thank my supervisor, Ms. M.J.G.A.M. Weerepas, for the good supervision and support with the writing of this master thesis. Thanks to her clear feedback, I was able to write and finalize this master thesis. I also want to thank Mr. R. Cox, journalist at Dagblad de Limburger and head of the investigation in the abusive practices of posted workers at the construction of the A2-highway in Maastricht. I've had contact with him about the investigation of abusive practices at the A2-highway in Maastricht. He gave me detailed information about the abusive practices that occurred in Maastricht and gave me insights and sources that I could use in writing in this master thesis.

# List of abbreviations

ABVV	Algemeen Belgisch Vakverbond
ACV	Confederation of Christian Trade Unions
Art.	Article
CLR	European Institute for Construction Labour Research
EBC	European Builders Confederation
EC	European Commission
EEA	European Economic Area
EFBWW	European Federation of Building and Woodworkers
EPC	European Policy Centre
EU	European Union
ETUI	European Trade Union Institute
FNV	Federatie Nederlandse Vakbeweging
IMI	Internal Market Information System
Ltd.	Limited
No	Number
NV	Naamloze vennootschap
OECD MC	Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development Model Convention
р.	page
PWD	The Posting of Workers Directive
Reg.	Regulation

SVB	Sociale Verzekeringsbank
SZW	Inspectie Sociale Zekerheid en Werkgelegenheid
TFEU	Treaty Functioning of the European Union
trESS	Training and Reporting on European Social Security
TRM	Théâtre Royal de la Monnaie
Vol.	Volume

# **Table of contents**

1	Int	roduction	7
	1.1	Central question	9
	1.2	Method of treatment	9
2	EU	rules on the posting of employees	10
	2.1	Regulation 883/2004	10
	2.1.	1 Posting	12
	2.2	Directive 96/71/EC	16
	2.3	Labour law	
	2.4	Tax law (OECD Model Convention)	20
	2.4.	1 Hiring-out of labour vs. Secondment	21
3	So	cial dumping and the abuse of A1-forms	24
	3.1	Social dumping	24
	3.1.	1 Practical Examples	24
	3.2	A1-forms	28
	3.2.	1 Fitzwilliam Case	29
	3.2.	2 Banks Case	31
	3.2.	3 Herbosch Kiere Case	32
	3.2.	4 Commission vs Belgium Case	33
	3.2.	5 Abuse of A1-forms	35
4	Co	untering abusive practices	
	4.1	The Enforcement Directive	

	4.2	Proposal Thyssen	.43
	4.2.	1 EU Member States' view	.45
	4.3	Public consultation on European Pillar of Social Rights	.46
	4.4	Effective measures?	.47
5	Co	nclusion	. 55
6	Bib	oliography	.57
7	Арре		
	Annex	Ι	.64
	Annex	Ш	.67
	Annex	III	. 68

# **1** Introduction

In the EU, citizens have the right to move and reside freely within the territory of the EU, subject to certain conditions.<sup>1</sup> Employees of a company are often sent from one Contracting State to the other Contracting State, to work there temporarily. This is called posting. This posting has positive effects on the economy of the Contracting States because of the economic integration, employment needs and the efficiency and productivity gains resulting from higher competition.<sup>2</sup> However, these positive effects are overshadowed by the phenomenon called "social dumping". According to M. Bernaciak, social dumping is "the practice, undertaken by self-interested market participants, of undermining or evading existing social regulations with the aim of gaining a competitive advantage".<sup>3</sup> The social dumping with respect to posted workers means that these workers are exploited by a company as cheap labour to work in another Member State while not safeguarding their social security rights. An example of social dumping is the recent case involving the Irish company Atlanco Rimec. Atlanco Rimec exploits temporary posted migrant workers in the construction industry.<sup>4</sup> "It's model basically is bidding on contracts at northern European prices in simple terms and employing labour at Southern European and Eastern European rates from those countries. They then cream the bit out of the middle and frequently cream tax and national insurance to boot on the back of that too".<sup>5</sup> This company and its social dumping practices

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> EC, EU citizenship and free movement: Movement and residence, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> E. Vaccarino & Z. Darvas, Bruegel, *"Social Dumping" and posted workers: a new clash within the EU*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> M. Bernaciak, ETUI, Social dumping and the EU integration process, Brussels, 2014, p. 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> S. Hägglund & W. Buelen, EFBWW, Another Shocking documentary on cross-border social dumping practices of Atlanco Rimec, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> S. Collyer, *EU Wide Social Dumping Scandal*, 2015

were for instance recently involved in the posting of workers in Maastricht for the construction of the A2-highway.<sup>6</sup>

A big problem with regard to social dumping is the abuse of A1-forms, which is a binding form that decides that the posted employees stay socially secured in the sending Member State.<sup>7</sup> The A1-forms and their binding status can be used to take abuse of the rules on social security with respect to posting. The question is how to prevent the social dumping and the abuse of these A1-forms in the EU.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> S. Hägglund & W. Buelen, EFBWW, A new case of social dumping and exploitation of workers by Atlanco Rimec, Brussels, 2013

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> SVB, International Secondment General conditions for A1/(E)101 certificate applications, 2016

## **1.1** Central question

For this master thesis I will formulate one central research question and where it is necessary or possible, I will make some preliminary conclusions. The central question of this master thesis is as follows:

"How can social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms effectively be combatted in the European Union?"

I will analyze and try to answer this question on the basis of the most recent developments in this field of topic.

# **1.2** Method of treatment

In the second chapter of this thesis, I will elaborate on the applicable regulations, directives and other rules or laws with regard to the posting of employees: Regulation 883/2004<sup>8</sup>, Regulation 987/2009<sup>9</sup> and Directive 96/71/EC<sup>10</sup>. In that chapter I will also make the connection between social security rules and taxation rules and labour law, respectively. In the third chapter I will describe social dumping and the abusive practices of the A1-forms. The relevant case law will also be examined in this chapter. In the fourth chapter, recent developments and efforts in order to prevent social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms will be discussed. Finally, I will come to a conclusion and revisit the central question of this master thesis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the coordination of social security systems, PbEU 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Regulation (EC) No 987/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 laying down the procedure for implementing Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 on the coordination of social security systems, PbEU 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Directive 96/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 1996 concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services, PbEU 1996

# 2 EU rules on the posting of employees

The freedom to provide services is an integral part of the EU as a single market.<sup>11</sup> This is legally laid down in art. 56 of the Treaty Functioning of the EU (TFEU). The posting of employees is an example of this freedom to provide services. The posting of employees is about the sending of employees to another Member State to temporarily work on an employer's behalf in that other Member State. Multiple EU laws and regulations are involved in the posting of employees. The number of posted employees in the EU is estimated to be 1.2 million, which is less than 1% of the EU working age population. The sector that most commonly uses the posting of employees is construction, in particular small and medium sized enterprises.<sup>12</sup> This chapter will discuss the relevant EU laws and regulations regarding the posting of employees.

## 2.1 Regulation 883/2004

Reg. 883/2004<sup>13</sup> is about the coordination of national social security schemes in the EU. This Regulation determines the legislation applicable for persons in the EU. For the application of the Reg. 883/2004 the territorial scope of this Regulation has to be met.<sup>14</sup> The territorial scope of Reg. 883/2004 consists not only of the European Union, but also includes the European Economic Area (EEA). The EEA includes the Member States of the EU and those Member States of the European Free Trade Association which have not yet become an EU Member State (which are Norway, Liechtenstein and Iceland).<sup>15</sup> Besides that, Reg. 883/2004 also applies to Switzerland on the basis of an Agreement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> EC, Posting of workers: EU safeguards against social dumping, Brussels, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> EC, Posting of workers: EU safeguards against social dumping, Brussels, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the coordination of social security systems, PbEU 2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 3.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 3.3

between the EU and Switzerland.<sup>16</sup> Next to the territorial scope, the personal scope has to be met. This personal scope is laid down in art. 2 of Reg. 883/2004 and covers nationals of a Member State, stateless persons and refugees residing in a Member State who are or have been subject to the legislation of one or more Member States, as well as to the members of their families and to their survivors.<sup>17</sup> Art. 2(2) Reg. 883/2004 further includes survivors of persons who have been subject to the legislation of one or more Member States persons, where their survivors are nationals of a Member States persons, where their survivors are nationals of a Member States.<sup>18</sup> If both the territorial and personal scope are met, the material scope must be met for the application of Reg. 883/2004. The material scope is laid down in art. 3 of Reg. 883/2004 and contains a list of branches of social security, such as sickness benefits, invalidity benefits and more.<sup>19</sup> When the territorial, the personal and the material scope are met, Reg. 883/2004 will be applicable.

Next, it should be determined which legislation is applicable. Art. 11(1) Reg. 883/2004 states that persons to whom the Regulation applies, shall be subject to the legislation of a single Member State only.<sup>20</sup> The determination of the applicable legislation is described in articles 11 through 16 of Reg. 883/2004. The main principle of the applicable legislation is *lex loci laboris*. This means that the legislation of the State in which a person pursues his/her activity to

<sup>16</sup> Decision No 1/2012 of the Joint Committee established under the agreement between the European Community and its Member States, of the one part, and the Swiss Confederation, of the other, on the free movement of persons of 31 March 2012, (2012/195/EU)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 4.3.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 4.3.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 5.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 6.2.2.1

work as an employed or self-employed person, is applicable.<sup>21</sup> Lex loci domicilii means that the applicable legislation is the legislation of the Member State of residence (home country).<sup>22</sup> Distinctions are made in determining the applicable legislation, with regard to employees, self-employed persons, civil servants, active or non-active persons, posted employees and simultaneous activities of persons in two or more States. The focus in this chapter will be on the posting of employees.

#### 2.1.1 Posting

The general rule of art. 11(3)(a) Reg. 883/2004 implies that the legislation of the State in which work is exercised, is applicable.<sup>23</sup> However, with the posting of employees, the legislation of the Member State that sends workers is applicable. The goal of posting is to facilitate the freedom to provide services for the benefit of employers which post workers to Member States other than that in which they are established, as well as the freedom of movement of workers.<sup>24</sup> The goal of posting is also to avoid administrative complications that would have existed if the general rule was applicable. This general rule would have meant that for the temporary employment of the employee that is sent to another Member State, the legislation of that Member State would be applicable. This would cause an administrative burden and the rules on posting avoid these complications.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> J. Cremers, CLR, Part 1 – Synthesis report, *In search of cheap labour in Europe: Working and living conditions of posted workers*, Introduction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> M. Coucheir et al., trESS, *Think Tank Report 2008: The relationship and interaction between the coordination Regulations and Directive 2004/38/EC*, p. 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 6.2.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009, par. (1)

Art. 12 of Reg. 883/2004 states the rules of posting. Art. 12(1) states: "A person who pursues an activity as an employed person in a Member State on behalf of an employer which normally carries out its activities there and who is posted by that employer to another Member State to perform work on that employer's behalf shall continue to be subject to the legislation of the first Member State, provided that the anticipated duration of such work does not exceed 24 months and that he/she is not sent to replace another posted person."<sup>25</sup> This article implies a few requirements to be met, in order to continue to be subject to the legislation of the sending State. First of all, there has to be a person who pursues an activity as an employed person. The activity as an employed person is defined in art. 1(a) of Reg. 883/2004 and means any activity or equivalent situation treated as such for the purposes of the social security legislation of the Member State in which such activity or equivalent situation exists.<sup>26</sup> Reg. 987/2009<sup>27</sup> lays down procedures for implementing Reg. 883/2004. In art. 14 Reg. 987/2009, details are described about the posting. In art. 14(1) Reg. 987/2009 it is stated that art. 12(1) Reg. 883/2004 shall include a person who is recruited with a view to being posted to another Member State, provided that, immediately before the start of his/her employment, the person concerned is already subject to the legislation of the Member State in which his/her employer is established.<sup>28</sup> Art. 14(2) Reg. 987/2009 clarifies the wording of 'which normally carries out' of art. 12(1) Reg. 883/2004. This wording refers to an employer that ordinarily performs substantial activities, other than purely internal management activities, in the territory of the Member State in which it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 7.1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> Reg. 883/2004, art. 1(a)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Regulation (EC) No 987/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 laying down the procedure for implementing Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 on the coordination of social security systems, PbEU 2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Reg. 987/2009, art. 14(1)

is established, taking account of all criteria characterizing the activities carried out by the undertaking in question.<sup>29</sup> The relevant criteria must be suited to the specific characteristics of each employer and the real nature of the activities carried out. Next to the implementing Reg. 987/2009, the Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009<sup>30</sup> concerns the interpretation of art. 12 Reg. 883/2004. This Decision also mentions conditions for the application of art. 12(1) Reg. 883/2004. The first condition is the existence of a direct relationship between the employer and the worker it engages. The determination of a direct relationship is done by assuming that the worker continues to be under the authority of the employer which posted him and by taking a number of elements into account, including responsibility for recruitment, employment contract, remuneration (without prejudice to possible agreements between the employer in the sending State and the undertaking in the State of employment on the payment to the workers), dismissal and the authority to determine the nature of the work.<sup>31</sup> It is stated that the protection of the worker and the legal security to which he and the institution with which he is insured are entitled, are full guarantees that the direct relationship is maintained throughout the period of posting.<sup>32</sup> The second condition is the existence of ties between the employer and the Member State in which it is established. This means that the rules on posting only apply to undertakings which ordinarily perform substantial activities in the territory of the Member State in which they are established. This condition thus coincides with art. 14(2) Reg. 987/2009. Furthermore, the Decision states that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> Reg. 987/2009, art. 14(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009 concerning the interpretation of Article 12 of Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the legislation applicable to posted workers and self-employed workers temporarily working outside the competent State, PbEU 2010, C 106/5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009, par. 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009, par. (4)

the worker and the employer must be duly informed of the conditions under which the posted worker is allowed to remain subject to the legislation of the sending State.<sup>33</sup> Also, the situation of undertakings and workers should be assessed and monitored by the competent institutions with the appropriate guarantees for the freedom to provide services and the freedom of movement of workers.<sup>34</sup> It is also mentioned that the posted employee should have been subject to the legislation of the Member State in which the employer is established, for at least one month. Shorter periods require a case-by-case evaluation taking account of all the other factors involved.<sup>35</sup> Besides all these requirements, there is the requirement of a maximum posting period of 24 months.<sup>36</sup> This period can, however, be extended by agreement.<sup>37</sup> In many Member States, the duration of such agreements is limited by the competent authorities to a maximum of five years.<sup>38</sup> Brief interruption of the activities of an employee in the working State shall not constitute interruption for the posting period. Once the posting period has ended, no immediate new posting period can be authorized for the same employee, the same undertaking and the same Member State. At least two months must have been elapsed before a new posting period can be initiated.<sup>39</sup>

Posting according to art. 12(1) Reg. 883/2004 shall not apply or cease to apply in the following cases. First of all, in case the undertaking to which the worker has been posted places him at the disposal of another undertaking of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009, par. (9)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009, par. (10)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009, par. 1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 7.1.1.5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup> See art. 16(1) Reg. 883/2004 which provides exceptions to articles 11 to 15 of Reg. 883/2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>38</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 7.5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>39</sup> Decision No A2, of 12 June 2009, par. 3(c)

Member State in which it is situated.<sup>40</sup> Also, in case the worker who has been posted to a Member State is placed at the disposal of an undertaking situated in another Member State.<sup>41</sup> And finally, in case the worker is recruited in a Member State in order to be sent by an undertaking situated in a second Member State to an undertaking in a third Member State.<sup>42</sup>

Art. 12(2) Reg. 883/2004 is similar to art. 12(1) Reg. 883/2004 but instead, applies to self-employed persons. If this self-employed person goes to pursue a similar activity in another Member State, he/she will continue to be subject to the legislation of the first Member State provided that the period of this activity in the other Member State does not exceed 24 months.

# 2.2 Directive 96/71/EC

Directive 96/71/EC<sup>43</sup>, the Posting of Workers Directive, was adopted in December 1996 and implemented by Member States in December 1999.<sup>44</sup> This PWD safeguards the social rights of posted workers and prevents social dumping.<sup>45</sup>

Art. 2(1) of the PWD gives the definition of a posted worker. This is a worker who, for a limited period, carries out his/her work in the territory of a Member State other than the State in which he/she normally works. The PWD covers three cross-border situations. The first situation of posting is a contract concluded between the undertaking making the posting and the party for whom

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>40</sup> Decision No A2, of 12 June 2009, par. 4(a)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>41</sup> Decision No A2, of 12 June 2009, par. 4(b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>42</sup> Decision No A2, of 12 June 2009, par. 4(c)

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>43</sup> Directive 96/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 1996 concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services, PbEU 1996
<sup>44</sup> PWD art. 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>45</sup> EC, Posting of workers: EU safeguards against social dumping, Brussels, 2014

the services are intended.<sup>46</sup> The second situation of posting is that of the posting of workers to an undertaking in another Member State owned by the group (intra-group).<sup>47</sup> The last situation of posting is the hiring out of workers by a temporary employment undertaking or placement agency to a user undertaking established in another Member State.<sup>48</sup> The conditions for posting are that an employment relationship must remain during the posting period between the posted worker(s) and the undertaking making the posting. Also the posting period must be limited.

The main purpose of the PWD is to ensure that posted workers are subject to the laws, regulations and administrative provisions of the working State.<sup>49</sup> For the construction sector and related activities where collective agreements or arbitration awards are universally applicable, the PWD provides a list of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions concerned.<sup>50</sup> This list includes<sup>51</sup>:

- maximum work periods and minimum rest periods;
- minimum paid annual holidays;
- the minimum rates of pay, including overtime rates (this is determined by the national law of the working State); this point does not apply supplementary occupational retirement pension schemes;
- the conditions of hiring-out of workers, in particular the supply of workers by temporary employment undertakings;
- health, safety and hygiene at work;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>46</sup> PWD art. 2(a)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> PWD art. 2(b)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> PWD art. 2(c)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>49</sup> PWD art. 3(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>50</sup> PWD art. 3(1) second indent and Annex

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>51</sup> PWD art. 3(1)(a)-(g)

- protective measures with regard to the terms and conditions of employment of pregnant women or women who have recently given birth, of children and of young people;
- equality of treatment between men and women and other provisions on non-discrimination.

The application of more favorable terms and conditions of employment are not precluded by art. 3(1)-(6) PWD.<sup>52</sup>

Even though the posting definition in the PWD is different than that of the Reg. 883/2004, the meaning of posting coincides. Besides that, the PWD focuses more on the applicability of the laws, regulations and administrative provisions in the working State for posted workers to guarantee minimum rights and conditions, instead of the sending State.

Besides this PWD, the Enforcement Directive is approved and accompanies the PWD with the practical implication and enforcement of the rules and provisions. This Enforcement Directive will be discussed in detail in chapter 4.

### 2.3 Labour law

For the determination of the applicable contractual obligations in an EU Member State, the Rome I Regulation<sup>53</sup> is used. The relevant article in this Regulation is art. 8, which involves individual employment contracts.<sup>54</sup> Art. 8(1) of the Rome I Regulation refers to art. 3 of the Regulation for the main

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup> PWD art. 3(7)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>53</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 on the law applicable to contractual obligations (Rome I), PbEU 2008, L 177/6

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>54</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 8

rule.<sup>55</sup> Art. 3(1) of the Rome I Regulation states that the parties involved have a freedom of choice with respect to law applicable to the contract and that this choice shall be made explicitly in the terms of the contract or implicitly demonstrated by the circumstances of the case.<sup>56</sup> This main rule may not conflict the applicable rules in case the employee does not have a freedom of choice. The rules applicable in case an employee does not have a freedom of choice, are stated in art. 8 paragraphs 2, 3 and 4 of the Rome I Regulation.<sup>57</sup> So, in the case where the employee does not have a freedom of choice, art. 8(2)Rome I Regulation states that the employment contract shall be governed by the country in which the employee habitually carries out his/her work in performance of the contract.<sup>58</sup> If the employee temporarily works in another country, the country where the work is habitually exercised shall not be deemed to have changed.<sup>59</sup> If the applicable law as stated in art. 8(2) Rome I Regulation cannot be determined, we look at art. 8(3) Rome I Regulation, which states that the law of the country where the place of business through which the employee was engaged is situated, shall govern the employment contract.<sup>60</sup> Art. 8(4) Rome I Regulation furthermore states that in case that circumstances would lead to the conclusion that the employment contract is more closely connected with another country as stated in the previous paragraphs, the law of that other country shall apply.<sup>61</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>55</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 8(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>56</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 3(1)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup> V. Behr, Journal of Law and Commerce, *Rome I Regulation A-Mostly-Unified private international law of contractual relationships within-most-of the European Union*, 2011, p. 254-255

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>58</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 8(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 8(2)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 8(3)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>61</sup> Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 (Rome I), art. 8(4)

Labour law and the applicable Rome I Regulation will thus apply the laws of the country for employment contracts based on the circumstances (where does the employee habitually exercises his/her work, where is the place of business situated, where is the closest connection with the employment). Workers that are posted and temporarily work in another country, will still be subject to the law of the country in which they habitually exercise their work.

# 2.4 Tax law (OECD Model Convention)

Art. 15 OECD MC outlines the rules relating to income from employment in a tax context. The general rule is laid down in art. 15(1) OECD MC which states that income from employment shall be taxable only in the State of residence of the person carrying out that activity. However, if the employment is exercised in another Contracting State, the income from employment may be taxed in that other Contracting State.<sup>62</sup> Art. 15(2) OECD MC provides an exception to this general rule, by stating that the income from employment exercised in another Contracting State shall be taxable only in the residence State if the following cumulative criteria are fulfilled<sup>63</sup>:

(a) the employee is present in the work state for a period or periods not exceeding in the aggregate 183 days in a given 12-month period; and

(b) the remuneration is paid by, or on behalf of, an employer who is not a resident of the work state; and

(c) the remuneration is not borne by a permanent establishment that the employer has in the work state.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup> Art. 15(1) OECD MC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup> Art. 15(2)(a-c) OECD MC

Most authors, including Pötgens, consider art. 15 OECD MC a closed system for income from employment. This means that if the income from employment does not fall under articles 16, 18 or 19 OECD MC, art. 15 OECD MC applies. According to them, income from employment can thus never fall under the 'other income article', art. 21 OECD MC.<sup>64</sup>

The object and purpose of art. 15 OECD MC is to facilitate the international movement of personnel and the operations of enterprises engaged in trade. The reason for art. 15(2) OECD MC is that an excessive administrative burden can be avoided when the residence State is only able to tax income from employment, when this employment is exercised in the other State. This administrative burden is considered excessive (and art. 15(2) OECD MC shall thus be applicable) when there is no sufficient level of presence of both the employee or the employer (art. 15(2)(a-c) OECD MC).<sup>65</sup>

Although the tax law perspective will not be the main focus in this thesis, it is still relevant in the consideration of posting.

#### 2.4.1 Hiring-out of labour vs. Secondment

International hiring-out of labour is an abusive practice that is to be prevented. In the international hiring-out of labour, a user wants to employ personnel for temporary work (periods not exceeding 183 days). The personnel is recruited through an intermediary established abroad who purports to be the employer and usually enters into a formal employment agreement with the workers. The intermediary pays the salaries of the employees and hires them out to the user

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>64</sup> B. Peeters, Article 15 of the OECD Model Convention on "Income from Employment" and its Undefined Terms", p. 73

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup> K. Dziurdz and F. Pötgens, *Cross-Border Short-Term Employment*, p. 405

for consideration.<sup>66</sup> With this type of hiring-out of labour, people try to exploit the rules of art. 15 OECD MC. Double exemption may occur if the work State does not consider the user to be an employer and the residence State of the employee grants relief of double taxation through exemption and considers the user to be an employer on whose behalf the salary was paid by the intermediary.<sup>67</sup>

The problem here is the definition of employer which could be interpreted differently, and thereby triggering art. 15(2)(b) OECD MC or not. The term employer is not defined in the OECD MC and therefore reference can be made to the meaning the term has under the domestic law of a Contracting State according to art. 3(2) OECD MC.<sup>68</sup> The OECD Commentary on art. 15 OECD MC provides interpretation of the term employer in the case of abusive situations (hiring-out of labour).<sup>69</sup> The Commentary gives guidance for the determination on who the 'real employer' is. The approach does not necessarily follow the formal (written) employment contract, but is more a substance over form approach.<sup>70</sup> First, the nature of services rendered by the employee will be important. It has to be determined whether these services constitute an integral part of the business of the enterprise to which these services are provided (integration test). A key consideration will be which enterprise bears the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>66</sup> L. de Broe et al., *Interpretation of Article 15(2)b) of the OECD Model Convention:* 

<sup>&</sup>quot;Remuneration paid by, or on behalf of, an Employer Who is not a Resident of the Other State", p. 505

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>67</sup> L. de Broe et al., *Interpretation of Article 15(2)b) of the OECD Model Convention:* 

<sup>&</sup>quot;Remuneration paid by, or on behalf of, an Employer Who is not a Resident of the Other State", p. 505

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup> Art. 3(2) OECD MC

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup> Par. 8 Commentary on art. 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup> L. de Broe et al., *Interpretation of Article 15(2)b) of the OECD Model Convention:* 

*<sup>&</sup>quot;Remuneration paid by, or on behalf of, an Employer Who is not a Resident of the Other State",* p. 506

responsibility or risk for the results produced by the employee.<sup>71</sup> Where the employment relationship seems to be different than the formal contractual relationship, additional factors should be determined to determine the 'real employer'. Examples of these factors are the determination of who has the authority to give instructions to the employee and who controls and has the responsibility for the place at which the work is performed (control test).<sup>72</sup> This substance over form approach should thus determine who the 'real employer' is, in order to prevent abusive situations.

In the case of bona fide cross-border secondment of employees, the employer is mostly the entity to which the employee is seconded and which bears the cost of the remuneration.<sup>73</sup> It is ambiguous whether the substance over form approach of par. 8 of the Commentary on art. 15 OECD MC applies also to bona fide cases, or whether it is restricted to abusive situations. It would be better if the Commentary would make it clear that par. 8 of the Commentary on art. 15 OECD MC applies in general, so also in bona fide cases.<sup>74</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup> Par. 8.13 Commentary on art. 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>72</sup> See par. 8.14 Commentary art. 15 for all the additional factors

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup> L. de Broe et al., *Interpretation of Article 15(2)b) of the OECD Model Convention:* 

*<sup>&</sup>quot;Remuneration paid by, or on behalf of, an Employer Who is not a Resident of the Other State",* p. 508

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>74</sup> L. de Broe et al., *Interpretation of Article 15(2)b) of the OECD Model Convention:* 

<sup>&</sup>quot;Remuneration paid by, or on behalf of, an Employer Who is not a Resident of the Other State", p. 511

# **3** Social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms

Social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms are undesirable practices in the social security sphere. This chapter describes these practices in detail and discusses the relevant cases and case law related with them.

### **3.1** Social dumping

Social dumping can be described as "the practice, undertaken by self-interested market participants, of undermining or evading existing social regulations with the aim of gaining a competitive advantage".<sup>75</sup> Social dumping is not only detrimental to the society in terms of unfair competition, but it is also very harmful for the posted workers in the form of bad or no social protection, deplorable wages and inhuman living and working conditions.<sup>76</sup> The practices of social dumping can best be explained by practical examples.

#### **3.1.1** Practical Examples

A company that has been involved in several social dumping practices in the past years is the Irish company Atlanco Rimec. The company was involved as a (sub)contractor in the Netherlands with the construction of the A2-highway in Maastricht. Atlanco Rimec posted Portuguese workers in the Netherlands to work on this project of the construction of the A2-highway in Maastricht. Atlanco Rimec arranged their stay in the Netherlands. The Portuguese workers stayed in rented houses which were due to be demolished. These houses were rented out by a Dutch housing corporation to Atlanco Rimec for approximately

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>75</sup> M. Bernaciak, ETUI, Social dumping and the EU integration process, Brussels, 2014, p. 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup> EFBWW, Stop Social Dumping, *Social Dumping and Exploitation*, 2016

450 Euro per month.<sup>77</sup> The Portuguese workers, who stayed with three or four workers in such a house, had to pay a monthly rent of 968 Euro to Atlanco Rimec. So, the Portuguese workers clearly got exploited. To hide this from the outside, Atlanco Rimec deducted a big amount from the salaries of the workers under the guise of 'logistical costs'.<sup>78</sup> Where the difference in these amounts went, is not clear. Clear, however, is that the workers were charged a lot more money by Atlanco Rimec than the 450 Euro of rent per month.<sup>79</sup> The initial reason for posting foreign (Portuguese) workers was the cheap labour costs. The labour costs of the Portuguese workers were significantly lower than that of Dutch workers. This difference in labour costs creates an unfair competition among the EU Member States; "cheap" workers that are posted, have a competitive advantage over local workers in the host State. The fact that companies like Atlanco Rimec were able to abuse the rules and exploit the workers, indicates that the real issue is the enforcement of these rules.<sup>80</sup> The posted workers also had to work overtime, beyond the overtime limits stated in the law. As of 2014 a Dutch institution, 'de Inspectie Sociale Zekerheid en Werkgelegenheid (SZW)' investigated this issue of overtime registration and asked questions to the construction company Avenue2 (which worked together with Atlanco Rimec on the project in Maastricht).<sup>81</sup> They said that the overtime

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>77</sup> Information from contact with Rob Cox, journalist at Dagblad de Limburger and head of the investigation in the abusive practices of posted workers at the construction of the A2-highway in Maastricht

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup> Information from contact with Rob Cox, journalist at Dagblad de Limburger and head of the investigation in the abusive practices of posted workers at the construction of the A2-highway in Maastricht

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup> Information from contact with Rob Cox, journalist at Dagblad de Limburger and head of the investigation in the abusive practices of posted workers at the construction of the A2-highway in Maastricht

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup> E. Vaccarino & Z. Darvas, Bruegel, "Social Dumping" and posted workers: a new clash within the EU, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup> H. Heuts, 1limburg, *Nog geen maatregelen tegen topmannen bouwer A2-tunnel*, 2016

registrations were supposed to be bonuses for the good work of the workers. Two directors of the company were legally prosecuted for forgery and the case is now still pending.<sup>82</sup>

Besides the case of the A2-highway in Maastricht, Atlanco Rimec has been involved in other social dumping practices as well. As soon as workers spoke publicly about the abusive practices, the company threatened and/or fired them (and put them on a blacklist) to get rid of the problems.<sup>83</sup> In case the problems would become too big, the company would close down and a new company would be set up under a new name to continue the abusive practices.<sup>84</sup> Besides that, most of the posted workers were not protected well enough in terms of social security. Social security has been structured via 'letterbox companies' (companies with no significant activity in a country) in Cyprus in the past, since it's cheap.<sup>85</sup> An interesting case in this regard is the case of Chain v. Atlanco<sup>86</sup>. Mr. Chain was working for Atlanco Rimec and worked in different EU Member States. Atlanco structured their social security via Cyprus since it's cheap. Mr. Chain, however, did not get disability benefits in the countries where he worked, neither did he get those benefits from Cyprus. The case was also very strange because Mr. Chain himself did not go to court, but a lawsuit was in fact instigated in his name. The case was therefore eventually dismissed by the CJEU.<sup>87</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup> H. Heuts, 1limburg, *Nog geen maatregelen tegen topmannen bouwer A2-tunnel*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>83</sup> R. Cox, Dagblad de Limburger, *De doofpot van de A2-tunnel*, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup> S. Collyer, *EU Wide Social Dumping Scandal*, 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>85</sup> S. Hägglund & W. Buelen, EFBWW, Another Shocking documentary on cross-border social dumping practices of Atlanco Rimec, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup> Bogdan Chain v. Atlanco, C-189/14, 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>87</sup> S. Peers, EU Law Analysis, *The Fake Client: The case that bamboozled the CJEU*, 2015

Recently, another social dumping case was discovered in the Netherlands by the labour union for the construction sector, 'FNV Bouw'. It concerns the construction of a new highway in Friesland, the Netherlands, where foreign workers are working on. These foreign workers are remunerated too little, are not getting their travel costs reimbursed and are working overtime beyond the allowed limits.<sup>88</sup> Besides that, it appears that there is bogus self-employment. Bogus self-employment happens often and means that self-employed people are able to stay subject to social security legislation in their home State by getting an A1-form (where this should not be allowed). The bogus selfemployment in this case constitutes workers which are reliable to a contractor and have no self-influence.<sup>89</sup> These workers are thus normal employees even though they pretend to be self-employed (in order to avoid social security). In the Netherlands, Lodewijk Asscher<sup>90</sup> has taken action to combat the bogus selfemployment. He introduced the 'Wet Aanpak Schijnconstructies' to combat these abusive practices.<sup>91</sup> Next to that, new agreements are introduced to determine whether someone is liable to withhold income tax and whether someone is liable to social security legislation.<sup>92</sup>

Taking all of the aforementioned in regard, it can be seen that the relation of social dumping and posting is that posting means that the legislation of the sending State remains applicable for the posted workers with regard to social security. Since there are differences in social security legislation across the countries in the EU, companies seek ways to exploit these differences by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup> Financieel Dagblad, 'Misstanden bij aanleg centrale as Friesland', 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup> Financieel Dagblad, 'Misstanden bij aanleg centrale as Friesland', 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>90</sup> Deputy Prime Minister of the Netherlands and Minister of Social Affairs and Employment

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>91</sup> Rijksoverheid, *Maatregelen tegen schijnconstructies*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>92</sup> J. de Wrede and C.M. Hermesdorf, De Kempenaer Advocaten, *De aanpak van* 

schijnzelfstandigheid: van VAR naar Modelovereenkomst, 2016

making sure the cheapest social security legislation applies. There are many forms of social dumping and some of them are described in this paragraph with practical examples. However, the cases or practical examples described here, are not the only cases involving social dumping. It is a serious problem in the EU and measures are needed to safeguard competition and the social rights of posted workers in the EU.

# **3.2** A1-forms<sup>93</sup>

The practice of social dumping and its relation to posting has been explained in the previous paragraph. The conditions of posting are often hard to check; it is difficult to see if someone is really posted to work on the employer's behalf or to replace another worker.<sup>94</sup> Related to social dumping is the issuance of posting certificates. Posting certificates are issued by the competent institution(s) of the sending State that posted the worker, as a formal statement of the applicable social security legislation.<sup>95</sup> It proves that the posted worker is subject to the social security legislation of the sending State and that all conditions of posting are fulfilled.<sup>96</sup> These posting certificates were E101-forms in the past, and have been replaced by portable documents A1 (hereafter: A1-forms) since 1 May 2010 (replacement for Switzerland since 1 April 2012 and for Liechtenstein, Norway and Iceland since 1 June 2012).<sup>97</sup> Issuing a posting certificate or A1-form is not obligated since it is not a condition of the posting

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>93</sup> See Annex I for an example of an A1-form

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>94</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 7.1.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>95</sup> EC, J. Pacolet and F. De Wispelaere, HIVA-KU Leuven, *Posting of workers: Report on A1 portable documents issued in 2014*, p. 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup> art. 5(1) Reg. 987/2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup> EC, J. Pacolet and F. De Wispelaere, HIVA-KU Leuven, *Posting of workers: Report on A1 portable documents issued in 2014*, p. 9

rules.<sup>98</sup> It does, however, provide certainty with regard to the applicable legislation of posted workers.

The A1-forms are not only issued for posted workers, but can also be issued for workers active in two or more Member States, flight and cabin crew and some other occasions. The focus in this thesis will be on the A1-forms in relation to posting. It can be seen that 76% of the A1-forms relate to posting. In 2014, approximately 1.45 million A1-forms were issued to one specific Member State.<sup>99</sup>

If the A1-forms for posting are not obligated, what is their legal status then? And what happens if the host State expresses doubt about the correctness of the issuance of an A1-form? Besides that, how are A1-forms used for abusive practices? These questions will be clarified in the following paragraphs.

# 3.2.1 Fitzwilliam Case

The Fitzwilliam case concerned Fitzwilliam Technical Services (Fitzwilliam Executive Search Ltd.), an Irish company established in Dublin and engaged in the provision of temporary personnel in Ireland and the Netherlands.<sup>100</sup> For the workers which were posted to the Netherlands, Fitzwilliam issued posting certificates (E101 and E111 for sickness insurance) and thereby stated that these workers continued to be subject to Irish social security legislation.<sup>101</sup> 'Het

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup> F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6<sup>th</sup> edition, 2015, par. 7.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>99</sup> EC, J. Pacolet and F. De Wispelaere, HIVA-KU Leuven, *Posting of workers: Report on A1 portable documents issued in 2014*, p. 9

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 14

Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen' considered that the workers were supposed to be subject to Dutch social security legislation.<sup>102</sup>

A question was raised concerning the legal status of the posting certificates. The E101-certificate determines that the social security legislation of the sending State is applicable and because only one social security legislation can apply at the same time, this means the social security legislation of the working State cannot be applicable.<sup>103</sup> The competent institution issuing the posting certificate should carry out a proper assessment of facts relating to posting to make sure the E101-certificate is issued correctly.<sup>104</sup> It was stated that the E101-certificate is binding on the competent institution of the Member State to which the posted workers are posted.<sup>105</sup> This makes sure that only one social security legislation is applicable and that legal certainty is guaranteed.<sup>106</sup> However, the institution in the Member State where the workers are posted to, can express doubts to the correct application of the posting certificate. If this is the case, the issuing institution must reconsider the posting certificate and, if necessary, withdraw the certificate.<sup>107</sup> If no agreement can be reached between the institutions to resolve the issue, they can refer the matter to the Administrative Commission. If that doesn't work out, they can start an infringement procedure and enable the Court to examine the correctness of the issuance of the posting certificate.<sup>108</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>102</sup> Fitzwilliam, C-202/97, 2000, par. 16

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>103</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 49

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>104</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 51

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>105</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 53

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 56

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>108</sup> *Fitzwilliam*, C-202/97, 2000, par. 57 and par. 58

#### 3.2.2 Banks Case

The Banks case concerned Mr. Banks, an opera singer, and other performing artists of British nationality. They were normally working in the United Kingdom and subject to British social security legislation as self-employed persons. They were performing in Belgium between 1992 and 1993 and their contracts with the 'Théâtre Royal de la Monnaie (TRM) de Bruxelles' lasted three to four months. TRM stated that the artists were subject to Belgium social security legislation and withheld social security contributions from the artists' fees.<sup>109</sup> Mr. Banks and the other artists challenged the TRM in this regard. The artists issued an E101-certificate during their engagement period with TRM or during the proceedings before the Court.

It is clear that the posting rules can also apply to self-employed persons.<sup>110</sup> In the Banks case reference was made to the Fitzwilliam case with respect to the binding status of the posting certificates.<sup>111</sup> The Banks case added in this respect that the posting certificate is not only binding to the competent institutions of the Member State where the workers are posted to, but it is also binding on the person who calls upon the services of the workers.<sup>112</sup> Another important issue addressed in this case, was whether the certificate could have retroactive effects now that Mr. Banks and the other artists issued the certificate during the proceedings or engagement period. It was stated that the issuance of the E101-certificate is preferably made at the beginning of the period

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>109</sup> Banks, C-178/97, 2000, par. 2, 3 and 4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup> See par. 2.1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>111</sup> Banks, C-178/97, 2000, par. 40

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>112</sup> Banks, C-178/97, 2000, par. 47 and par. 48

concerned, but that the issuance can also be made during that period or after its expiry. This means that the posting certificate can have retroactive effects.<sup>113</sup>

#### 3.2.3 Herbosch Kiere Case

Herbosch Kiere NV was a Belgian company involved in construction and installation activities in Belgium. It hired workers from the Irish ICDS Constructors Ltd., which issued E101-certificates for the workers to be posted to Belgium. In Belgium, Herbosch Kiere was considered the real employer for the hired workers, and had to pay contributions for them in Belgium with regard to social security.<sup>114</sup> Herbosch Kiere demanded a repayment of these contributions since E101-certificates were issued. The 'Rijksdienst' appealed to Court in Brussel.<sup>115</sup>

The main question in this case was whether courts were also bound to the posting certificates. In this case it was decided that a posting certificate is also binding on a court of the Member State to which a worker has been posted.<sup>116</sup> The reason behind this, is that the system must guarantee cooperation in good faith between the competent institutions of the Member States and that this could be undermined if the certificate was not binding on a court of the host Member State.<sup>117</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup> Banks, C-178/97, 2000, par. 53 and 54

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup> Herbosch Kiere, C-2/05, 2006, par. 10-14

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>115</sup> Herbosch Kiere, C-2/05, 2006, par. 15

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup> Herbosch Kiere, C-2/05, 2006, par. 31, 32 and 33

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup> Herbosch Kiere, C-2/05, 2006, par. 30

## **3.2.4** Commission vs Belgium Case

A more recent and still pending case concerns Belgian legislation with respect to posting certificates. In 2012 the Belgian Parliament approved a new law, 'de Programmawet'. The European Commission contacted the Belgian authorities in 2013 about art. 23 and art. 24 of the new 'Programmawet'.<sup>118</sup> These articles state that Belgian authorities (national judges, social inspectors or a public institution of social security) can unilaterally subject a person to Belgian social security legislation, even if this person is in the possession of an A1-form that is issued by a competent institution of the State that sent the worker to Belgium (and as a consequence is subject to the social security legislation of that sending State).<sup>119</sup> The EC stated that this Belgian legislation is in breach with EU law by unilaterally subjecting the posted workers in Belgium to Belgian social security legislation (and not following the procedures for A1-forms).<sup>120</sup> A1forms are binding on the institutions and courts of the Member States to which the workers are posted to.<sup>121</sup> There are clear procedures which are constituted in art. 5 Reg. 987/2009<sup>122</sup>, and Decision No A1 of the Administrative Commission<sup>123</sup> to resolve disagreement among the applicable social security legislation. Besides that, the competent institutions of the Member States

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>120</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies,* Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>121</sup> See par. 3.2.1-par.3.2.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>122</sup> This article confirms the case law on the posting certificates and states the binding status of these certificates. Furthermore, the article states that institutions which receive the certificates can express their doubts which would lead to a reassessment of the certificate by the sending institution. If no agreement is reached, reference is made to the Administrative Commission.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>123</sup> Decision No A1 of 12 June 2009 concerning the establishment of a dialogue and conciliation procedure concerning the validity of documents, the determination of the applicable legislation and the provision of benefits under Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council, PbEU 2010, C 106/01

should cooperate to ensure the correct applicability of social security legislation.<sup>124</sup>

The Belgian authorities answered to this by stating that art. 23 and art. 24 of the 'Programmawet' are not in breach with EU law, with the argument that these articles aim a correct applicability of Reg. 883/2004 and Reg. 987/2009 and by stating that these articles are in line with *"fraus omnia corrumpit"* (which means that in case of fraud, all effects of a legal statement are negated) and the articles are justified by reason of the prohibition of abuse. These new rules should ensure effective, proportionate and deterring sanctions in case of fraud according to the Belgian authorities.<sup>125</sup>

However, these new rules of Belgium are in breach with the fundament of the coordination of social security legislation: art. 11 Reg. 883/2004.<sup>126</sup> That is because these rules have the consequence of subjecting a person to the social security legislation of more than one Member State (both the sending State, because of the A1-form, and the working State: Belgium). Next to that, Belgium refers in its argumentation to case law of Van de Bijl<sup>127</sup> even though it was not stated there that Member States are allowed to unilaterally disregard certificates.<sup>128</sup> In the Van de Bijl case it was even stated that the receiving Member State is bound to the statement of the sending Member State.<sup>129</sup> In its argumentation, Belgium does not refer to any of the relevant case law which determines the binding status of posting certificates.<sup>130</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>124</sup> Art. 76 Reg. 883/2004

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>125</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>126</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>127</sup> Van de Bijl, C-130/88, 1989

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>128</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>129</sup> Van de Bijl, C-130/88, 1989, par. 22-24

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>130</sup> EC, *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, 2014, p. 4

All in all, the EC states that art. 23 and art. 24 of the 'Programmawet' of Belgium are in breach with art. 11, 12 and 76(6) of Reg. 883/2004, art. 5 of Reg. 987/2009 and Decision No A1 of the Administrative Commission. The EC follows in its reasoning the relevant case law on posting certificates.<sup>131</sup> Since Belgium did not agree with the EC in this regard, the EC referred Belgium further to the Court.<sup>132</sup>

#### 3.2.5 Abuse of A1-forms

A1-forms are often used in abusive situations. The issuance of A1-forms is easily granted, often without fulfilling all the necessary criteria of posting which underlie the issuance of A1-forms.<sup>133</sup> This means that the A1-forms are wrongfully granted and that the posting conditions are not fulfilled. Hence, posted workers should then not be subject to the social security legislation of the sending State, but should be subject to the legislation of the working State instead. The A1-forms are most of the time issued by institutions in countries where the social security contributions are low/cheap, to ensure that the posted workers are subject to this "cheap" social security legislation. The binding status of these A1-forms, obliges the receiving country and institutions (the State to which the workers are posted) to respect these A1-forms and to respect that the workers are subject to the legislation of the sending State.<sup>134</sup> This binding status and the lack of effective control mechanisms or rules make it quite easy to issue A1-forms without fulfilling the necessary posting conditions,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>131</sup> See par. 3.2.1-3.2.3

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>132</sup> EC, Press release, Employment: Commission refers Belgium to Court for refusing certificates of workers affiliated in another Member State, 2015

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>133</sup> H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid, *Sociale zekerheid en* detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude, p. 426, 427

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>134</sup> See case law of previous paragraphs and art. 5 Reg. 987/2009

and thereby contributing to social dumping.<sup>135</sup> As already stated in the case of the previous paragraphs, the receiving States of A1-forms can express their doubts about the correct issuance of the A1-forms and oblige the sending States to reassess the issuance of the A1-forms. This reassessment is, however, more of a moral obligation and no legal consequences are attached to this reassessment. The issuance of A1-forms can thus continue, even though the receiving State obliges a reassessment of the correctness of the issuance.<sup>136</sup> The case law also gives further procedures if the countries and/or institutions cannot reach agreement on the issuance of A1-forms; the competent authorities can then go to the Administrative Commission to resolve the issue or if that doesn't solve the problem, they can go to the European Parliament via art. 227 TFEU.<sup>137</sup> The Administrative Commission is, however, more of a mediator in resolving disagreement concerning administrative cases and is not effective at all. This is among other things, because the institutions themselves cannot submit the problems with respect to A1-forms to the Administrative Commission, only the members of this commission (government leaders) can submit these problems.<sup>138</sup> Next to that, the case Herbosch Kiere, made sure that the A1-forms are also binding on the courts of the receiving State of these forms. As a consequence, the receiving State of the A1-forms is not able to do much about the issuance of these forms, not even in the case where these forms

<sup>137</sup> See also Decision No A1 of 12 June 2009 and art. 5 Reg. 987/2009

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>135</sup> H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid, *Sociale zekerheid en detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude*, p. 426, 427

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>136</sup> H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid, Sociale zekerheid en detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude, p. 435

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>138</sup> H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid, *Sociale zekerheid en* detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude, p. 435-437
are used for abusive purposes.<sup>139</sup> Better control mechanisms or rules are therefore necessary in order to ensure that the issuance of A1-forms are made correctly and are not used for abusive purposes like social dumping.

Interesting to see is that the three main sending States of A1-forms in relation to posting are Poland, Germany and France. The three main receiving States of these A1-forms are Germany, France and Belgium.<sup>140</sup> It would be expected, from the perspective of (abusive) social dumping with respect to the A1-forms, that the main sending States were "cheap social security countries", but only Poland is in the top 3 as such a country. This might indicate that the majority of A1-forms are issued correctly without the purpose of social dumping. However, Poland is still the main sending State of A1-forms (might indicate social dumping, since it is a "cheap" social security country) and the main receiving States are all "expensive" social security countries. Besides that, the number of A1-forms issued relating to posting increased steadily in the years 2010-2014.<sup>141</sup> This all leads to the conclusion that the abusive use of A1-forms cannot be ignored by analyzing these numbers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>139</sup> H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid, *Sociale zekerheid en* detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude, p. 438, 439

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>140</sup> EC, J. Pacolet and F. De Wispelaere, HIVA-KU Leuven, *Posting of workers: Report on A1 portable documents issued in 2014*, p. 14

See also Annex II for an overview of sending and receiving Member States of A1-forms <sup>141</sup> EC, J. Pacolet and F. De Wispelaere, HIVA-KU Leuven, *Posting of workers: Report on A1 portable documents issued in 2014*, p. 34 See also Annex III

# 4 **Countering abusive practices**

As discussed in the previous chapters, social dumping and the abuse of A1forms in relation to posting are serious problems in the EU. This chapter will give an overview of the recent proposals and actions taken to counter these abusive practices.

### 4.1 The Enforcement Directive

As already discussed, the PWD safeguards the social rights of workers and prevents social dumping.<sup>142</sup> The PWD defines a mandatory set of rules that make the posted workers entitled to a set of minimum conditions in the host State (even though they are still subject to the social security legislation of the sending State if the posting conditions are fulfilled).<sup>143</sup>

The Enforcement Directive<sup>144</sup> accompanies the PWD and was approved in 2014.<sup>145</sup> This Enforcement Directive has to be implemented by Member States in their national law by 18 June 2016.<sup>146</sup> One of the problems discussed in the previous chapter, was that the conditions of posting are not always rightfully fulfilled or applied (and thereby causing social dumping or abusive practices with A1-forms) and that there are no effective enforcement rules or regulations in place to combat these abusive practices. The Enforcement Directive will

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>142</sup> See par. 2.2

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>143</sup> EC, Fact Sheet, *Revision of the Posting of Workers Directive – frequently asked questions*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>144</sup> Directive 2014/67/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on the enforcement of Directive 96/71/EC concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services and amending Regulation (EU) No 1024/2012 on administrative

cooperation through the Internal Market Information System ('IMI Regulation'), PbEU 2014 <sup>145</sup> EC, Fact Sheet, *Revision of the Posting of Workers Directive – frequently asked questions*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>146</sup> EC, Fact Sheet, *Revision of the Posting of Workers Directive – frequently asked questions*, 2016

ensure that the rules and safeguards laid down in the PWD are better applied in practice so that there are no or less possibilities for social dumping.<sup>147</sup> It thus provides a common framework for a more uniform implementation, application and enforcement of the PWD. The Enforcement Directive also aims to guarantee an appropriate level of protection of the rights of posted workers for the cross-border provision of services.<sup>148</sup>

An important part of the Enforcement Directive is the identification of a genuine or abusive situation of posting, since social dumping practices often involve 'letterbox companies'<sup>149</sup> and wrongful applicability of the posting criteria. To determine whether an undertaking genuinely performs substantial activities, the competent institutions shall make an overall assessment of all factual elements characterizing those activities. These elements may constitute of<sup>150</sup>:

- the place where the undertaking has its registered office and administration;
- the place where posted workers are recruited and from which they are posted;
- the law applicable to the concluded contracts between the undertaking and its workers and clients;
- the place where the undertaking performs substantial activities and where it hires administrative staff;

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>147</sup> EC, Press release, *Employment: Commission welcomes Council adoption of Posting of Workers Enforcement Directive*, 2014

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>148</sup> Art. 1(1) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>149</sup> See par. 3.1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>150</sup> Art. 4(2) Enforcement Directive (not an exhaustive list!)

• the number of contracts performed or the size of the turnover in the Member State of establishment.

To determine whether a posted worker temporarily carries out work in a Member State other than that in which he/she normally performs his/her work, again all factual elements characterizing the work and the situation of the worker shall be examined.<sup>151</sup> The Enforcement Directive thus applies a case-by-case analysis of all relevant and factual elements (with some examples of elements to consider) to determine whether there is a genuine posting or a form of abusive posting.

Chapter II of the Enforcement Directive contains measures to ensure improved access of information and transparency. Among the measures is a single official national website with all the information about the terms and conditions of employment and the applicable national or regional laws/regulations with respect to workers that are posted to the territory of that country.<sup>152</sup> This should make things more clear for both the posted workers and the institutions related with the posting, and may lead to a reduction of incorrect application of the posting rules.

Chapter III contains rules about the administrative cooperation between the Member States concerned with regard to the posting of workers. Limits are set for Member States to reply to requests of other Member States or the Commission up to a maximum of 2 working days from the receipt of the request in urgent cases, or up to a maximum of 25 working days from the receipt of the receipt of the request in all other cases.<sup>153</sup> The improved cooperation and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>151</sup> Art. 4(3) Enforcement Directive (not an exhaustive list!)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>152</sup> Art. 5(2)(a/b) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>153</sup> Art. 6(6)(a/b) Enforcement Directive

mutual assistance provided for in this chapter of the Directive, should give Member States and institutions better means to see if the posting conditions are rightfully fulfilled and to better detect and prevent abusive practices.

Chapter IV of the Directive ensures effective monitoring of compliance. This is a crucial part, since it has been stated that the monitoring or control mechanisms are not effective in countering the abusive practices.<sup>154</sup> The service providers involved in posting, are obliged to make information available to the Member State in which the posted workers are providing services on their behalf.<sup>155</sup> The service providers are also obligated to designate a person as liaison with the competent authorities of the working State (and if necessary a designation of a contact person for engagement with social partners).<sup>156</sup> Combined with inspections of competent authorities, this increases the controls and checks that are necessary to effectively combat abusive practices.<sup>157</sup>

Chapter V of the Enforcement Directive ensures effective complaint mechanisms for posted workers against their employers in case of losses or damage for these posted workers or the wrongful application of rules by their employers.<sup>158</sup> Posted workers who are starting judicial or administrative proceedings, are protected by unfavourable treatment of their employers.<sup>159</sup> This means that a company that is involved in social dumping by for instance, depriving a posted worker living conditions and subjecting him/her to bad social security conditions, can be faced with proceedings of these posted employees. In such a situation, a company can no longer, as Atlanco Rimec did,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>154</sup> See par. 3.2.5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>155</sup> See Art. 9(1)(a) Enforcement Directive for a list of the information provision.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>156</sup> Art. 9(1)(e/f) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>157</sup> Art. 10(1) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>158</sup> Art. 11(1) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>159</sup> Art. 11(5) Enforcement Directive

fire these workers (or treat them less favourably) who have started proceedings against the company.<sup>160</sup> This will make posted workers more willingly to start proceedings, since they do not have to fear an unfavourable treatment anymore by their employer. Whether the posted workers are really going to start proceedings in case of abusive practices and whether they will not be treated unfavourably afterwards will, however, remain questionable. Furthermore, the posted workers can now also hold the contractor, to which their employer is a direct subcontractor, liable for the deprivation of their living conditions or unfavourable treatment.<sup>161</sup> Since many companies involved in abusive practices are structured in complex ways via subcontracting chains, this rule ensures that even these contractors in the subcontracting chains can be held liable. This may deter their involvement in abusive practices.

Chapter VI of the Directive is about the enforcement of fines and/or penalties. This chapter is, however, more about the procedure for the recovery of fines and/or penalties and stresses the importance of mutual assistance in this regard between competent authorities of the Member States involved.<sup>162</sup> It is of course a good thing that procedures are in place for the recovery of fines and/or penalties, in case these are wrongfully levied. This, however, does not say anything about the levying of penalties/fines and about how high the penalties/fines should be. Chapter VII further states that penalties shall be applicable in case there is an infringement of the rules and/or provisions of this Directive and that these penalties shall be effective, proportionate and dissuasive.<sup>163</sup> Again nothing is said in detail about how and when to levy those penalties and how high these should be. Further details are necessary to give

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>160</sup> See par. 3.1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>161</sup> Art. 12(1/2) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>162</sup> See art. 15 Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>163</sup> Art. 20 Enforcement Directive

clarity and to make sure that the penalties are high enough to combat/deter social dumping and abusive practices in this context. Chapter VII further states that certain parts of this Directive with regard to cooperation and mutual assistance should be implemented through an Internal Market Information System (IMI).<sup>164</sup> It is also stated that the Commission shall review the application and implementation of this Directive no later than 18 June 2019 and propose, where necessary, modifications and amendments.<sup>165</sup>

### 4.2 **Proposal Thyssen**

On 8 March 2016, Marianne Thyssen<sup>166</sup> proposed a revision of Directive 96/71/EC, the PWD. The proposal<sup>167</sup> should ensure better protection for workers, more transparency and legal certainty, and a level playing field between domestic and posting firms while respecting Member States' bargaining systems.<sup>168</sup> It should thus facilitate labour mobility but in a fair way.

The proposal contains a revision in three ways. The first is the introduction of the principle 'equal pay for equal work in the same place'.<sup>169</sup> This means that the remuneration of posted workers shall be the same as the remuneration of local workers in the host State. Remuneration shall include minimum rates of

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>164</sup> Art. 21 Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>165</sup> Art. 24(1) Enforcement Directive

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>166</sup> European Commissioner responsible for Employment, Social Affairs, Skills and Labour Mobility

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>167</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 96/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 1996 concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services, 2016/0070, Strasbourg, 8 March 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>168</sup> EC, Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion, *The Commission presents reform of posting of workers – towards a fair and truly European Labour Market*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>169</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 4

pay, allowances and/or bonuses where applicable.<sup>170</sup> For this change, art. 3(1) of the PWD is revised in such a way that "minimum rates of pay" is replaced by "remuneration". Furthermore art. 3(1) PWD is revised by making the collective agreements applicable as in art. 3(8) PWD, to posted workers in all sectors of the economy (so the phrase "insofar as they concern activities referred to in the Annex" is deleted). Next to that, Member States are obliged to publish the elements of remuneration for posted workers on a public website.<sup>171</sup> Also, a new paragraph will be added that gives Member States the possibility to oblige undertakings to subcontract only to undertakings that grant workers certain conditions on remuneration applicable to the contractor. This must be done in a proportionate and non-discriminatory way.<sup>172</sup>

The second revision concerns the rules on temporary work agencies. For this, a new paragraph will be added, specifying the conditions to be applied to cross-border agencies hiring out work, which should coincide with the conditions applied by to national agencies hiring out workers. This corresponds to art. 3(9) PWD but is different in that it is now a legal obligation for Member States.<sup>173</sup>

The third revision adds an article concerning the labour law. This articles states that in case the duration of posting exceeds 24 months (without the possibility of extending the period), the labour law of the host Member State will be applicable to the employment contract of the posted worker according to Rome

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>170</sup> EC, Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion, *The Commission presents reform of posting of workers – towards a fair and truly European Labour Market*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>171</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>172</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 7-8

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>173</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 8

I Regulation, if no other choice of law was made by the parties. This labour law of the host Member State will only be applicable where it is favourable.<sup>174</sup>

### 4.2.1 EU Member States' view

The proposal of Thyssen was received with mixed views among the Member States of the EU. Austria, Belgium, France, Germany, the Netherlands, Luxembourg and Sweden (so most of the Western European countries) have claimed their support for the proposal of Thyssen in the revision of the PWD to combat social dumping.<sup>175</sup> On the contrary, most of the Eastern European countries like Bulgaria, Slovakia, Hungary, Czech Republic, Latvia, Estonia, Lithuania, Poland and Romania have started a 'Yellow Card' procedure via the Treaty of Lisbon. This procedure can be initiated when at least nine national parliaments agree on this initiation and it means that they believe an EU programme (in this case the proposal of Thyssen) is unnecessary or that the problem can be resolved satisfactorily at national or regional level (principle of subsidiarity).<sup>176</sup> This 'Yellow Card' procedure has the effect that the EC must reconsider its proposal to revise the PWD. The proposal can then be amended or withdrawn, or the 'Yellow Card' procedure can be ignored by the EC.<sup>177</sup> The countries that initiated the 'Yellow Card' procedure are concerned that the principle of 'equal pay for equal work in the same place' may be incompatible with the Single Market, since the pay rate differences constitute a legitimate element of competition for service providers. They further state that posted

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>174</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 6-7

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>175</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 4-5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>176</sup> T. Miessen, ACV, europeinfos, *Red card against social dumping – Can the EU establish a European labour market with a fairer deal for the mobility of workers?*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>177</sup> M. Peeperkorn, de Volkskrant, Asscher: zwicht niet voor 'gele kaart' Oost-Europa, 2016

workers should remain subject to the social security legislation of the sending Member States.<sup>178</sup>

These differences in views towards the proposal of Thyssen between the Western and Eastern European countries, are not that surprising. The countries that initiated the 'Yellow Card' procedure, fear of losing their competitive advantage in terms of lower wage costs.<sup>179</sup> That is because the proposal of Thyssen wants the posted workers to get an equal remuneration for equal work in the same place compared with local workers in the host State. This proposal would probably lead to less demand for Eastern European workers, since they do not imply lower wage costs anymore. On the other hand, the Western European countries support the proposal of Thyssen, because they see the "cheaper" workers (implying lower wage costs) from Eastern European countries as a threat for jobs for local workers in their State.<sup>180</sup> The proposal would equalize the situation between foreign and local workers in terms of remuneration, thereby not creating a competitive advantage for Eastern European workers/companies anymore. The fact that these Eastern European countries started the 'Yellow Card' procedure, might demonstrate their part in this practice of social dumping and/or unfair competition.<sup>181</sup>

4.3 Public consultation on European Pillar of Social Rights

In September 2015 President Juncker<sup>182</sup> announced the European Pillar of Social Rights and in March 2016 the first preliminary outline was presented by

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>178</sup> EC, Proposal for a Directive amending Directive 96/71/EC, p. 5

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>179</sup> M. Peeperkorn, de Volkskrant, Asscher: zwicht niet voor 'gele kaart' Oost-Europa, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>180</sup> Eutom, Sociale dumping: vechten voor plan-Thyssen, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>181</sup> Eutom, Sociale dumping: vechten voor plan-Thyssen, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>182</sup> President of the European Commission

the EC. Next to that, a consultation was opened on this Pillar of Social Rights that will run till the end of 2016 and which is aimed at making an assessment of the present situation in the EU with regard to social rights, to reflect on new trends and to gather feedback on the preliminary outline of the Pillar of Social Rights.<sup>183</sup> The European Pillar of Social Rights should reflect the challenges of the changing world like the ageing population, the aftermath of the economic crisis, the digitalization and more. It reflects on the present social model and wants to make the social model future-proof.<sup>184</sup> This Pillar of Social Rights is targeted for the Euro Area, but non-Euro Member States can join if they want to and the consultation is open to everybody.<sup>185</sup> The European Pillar of Social Rights will be presented in 2017 after the consultation has ended.<sup>186</sup>

#### 4.4 Effective measures?

As described in the previous paragraphs, different recent actions and developments have taken place in order to counter the abusive practices of social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms. The recent attention and accompanying actions to counter these abusive practices are a good step in the right direction. However, important in this regard is to see how effective these measures really are in countering the abusive practices.

Social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms often occur because of a wrong application of the posting criteria. The Enforcement Directive gives good

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>183</sup> EC, Press release, *Commission launches a public consultation on the European Pillar of Social Rights*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>184</sup> EC, Press release, *Commission launches a public consultation on the European Pillar of Social Rights*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>185</sup> EC, Press release, *Commission launches a public consultation on the European Pillar of Social Rights*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>186</sup> EC, Press release, *Commission launches a public consultation on the European Pillar of Social Rights*, 2016

guidance for the assessment whether there is a genuine posting or an abusive form of posting. Furthermore, the Enforcement Directive ensures an improved coordination and mutual assistance of Member States to tackle the abusive practices.<sup>187</sup> We have seen that the monitoring and enforcement of the rules are very important in countering abusive practices. The Enforcement Directive addresses this problem by obligating institutions that post workers, to make available information with regard to these workers and by increasing the mutual assistance and coordination in this regard between Member States.<sup>188</sup> The enforcement in the form of penalties and/or fines are also stated in the Enforcement Directive, but lack a detailed guidance on the applicability in practice (what amount and in which situations should they apply?).

The proposal of Thyssen for a revision of the PWD, has caused a lot of fuzz resulting in different views of Member States. While the Western European countries support the proposal of Thyssen, the Eastern European countries initiated a 'Yellow Card' procedure in the hope that the proposal will be withdrawn or amended.<sup>189</sup> These Eastern European countries do not want to lose their competitive advantage in terms of favourable wage costs. The proposal Thyssen is a good initiative in equalizing the level playing field in terms of remuneration for both posted workers and local workers in the host State. The proposal also deals with temporary agencies and the applicable labour law in case that the posting period of 24 months is exceeded. These are all good steps in combatting social dumping by ensuring and protecting the rights of the posted workers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>187</sup> See par. 4.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>188</sup> See par. 4.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>189</sup> See par. 4.2.1

However, the proposal of Thyssen does not say anything about the social security legislation. In case the posting criteria are fulfilled (and where an A1form may be issued), the posted worker will stay subject to the social security legislation of the sending State. Many companies take abuse of these rules, by making sure that posted workers stay subject to social security legislation of a country where the social security contributions are cheap. Structuring the posting in such a way that exploits the differences in social security legislation among different Member States, is a problem which is not addressed at all in the proposal of Thyssen.<sup>190</sup> The posted workers that stay subject to "cheap" social security legislation will then still have a competitive advantage compared to local workers in the host State, which is undesirable. That is why many people, including Bart Tommelein<sup>191</sup>, would rather see that the rules of social security legislation as in art. 12 Reg. 883/2004 are amended in such a way that the social security legislation of the host country would be applicable.<sup>192</sup> Indeed, this would completely equalize the level playing field between posted workers and local workers in the host State. However, this would also create more administrative burdens for short-time posting of workers now that they have to pay social security contributions in the host country. The reduction of the administrative burden was one of the main reasons for introducing the posting rules as in art. 12 Reg. 883/2004.<sup>193</sup> Bart Tommelein also pledges for a reduction of the maximum posting period to 6 months, since the average posting period appears to be 4 months.<sup>194</sup> This period of 6 months coincides

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>190</sup> ABVV Algemene Centrale, Het plan van eurocommissaris Thyssen is 'too little, too late',
2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>191</sup> Belgian politician of Open Vld and minister in the Flemish Government

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>192</sup> Deredactie.be, *"Verder gaan om sociale dumping tegen te gaan"*, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>193</sup> See par. 2.1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>194</sup> Deredactie.be, "Verder gaan om sociale dumping tegen te gaan", 2016

with the period mentioned in art. 15 OECD MC with regard to tax law.<sup>195</sup> If the posting period is within these 6 months, the posted worker can stay subject to the social security legislation of the sending State and thereby have minimum administrative burdens. This concession of maintaining minimum administrative burdens and still letting the social security legislation of the sending State be applicable, would however still mean that the posted workers from "cheap" social security countries have a competitive advantage.

Besides the unaddressed rules on applicable social security legislation, the bogus self-employment<sup>196</sup> is also not addressed in the proposal.<sup>197</sup> Furthermore, the proposal of Thyssen intends to make the collective agreements applicable to posted workers in all sectors of the economy. This excludes other types of agreements and neglects collective bargaining in the EU, which is characterized by great diversity.<sup>198</sup> Furthermore, some sectors might be better regulated than other sectors and with the intention of applying universally applicable collective agreements in sectors, this could create inequality with regard to social protection for posted workers.<sup>199</sup>

Hence, the proposal of Thyssen is a step in the right direction but is too little to effectively address all the problems of social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms.<sup>200</sup> The proposal of Thyssen can, however, be seen as a good attempt for a concession between the Western and Eastern European countries. However, it

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>195</sup> See par. 2.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>196</sup> See par. 3.1.1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>197</sup> Deredactie.be, "Verder gaan om sociale dumping tegen te gaan", 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>198</sup> C. Dhéret and A. Ghimis, EPC, *Discussion paper - The revision of the Posted Workers Directive: towards a sufficient policy adjustment?*, 2016, p. 10

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>199</sup> C. Dhéret and A. Ghimis, EPC, *Discussion paper - The revision of the Posted Workers Directive: towards a sufficient policy adjustment?*, 2016, p. 10

 <sup>&</sup>lt;sup>200</sup> ABVV Algemene Centrale, Het plan van eurocommissaris Thyssen is 'too little, too late',
2016

is difficult to satisfy everybody and the initiation of the 'Yellow Card' procedure exemplifies this.

Quite remarkably, no special attention is given to the control of A1-forms in either the Enforcement Directive or the proposal of Thyssen, although we have seen that the abuse with these A1-forms is a problem in the EU.<sup>201</sup> The Enforcement Directive may help in the enforcement of the correct issuance of A1-forms by obligating information provision by service providers and improving mutual assistance and coordination between Member States, but the question is whether this is enough to ensure the correct issuance of A1-forms. Furthermore, the initiation of the public consultation on the European Pillar of Social Rights is also a good initiative that could improve the social situation in the EU and by letting everybody have a say in the implementation of this Pillar of Social Rights. So far, this European Pillar of Social Rights is, in my opinion however, still too vague and does not give specific solutions for problems. Maybe the real implementation in 2017 will give more detail for tackling specific problems.

Although all recent developments to counter abusive practices in the form of social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms are improving the situation, they do not counter all abusive practices. Amending the posting rules by making sure posted workers are subject to the social security legislation of the host State would completely equalize the level playing field between posted workers and local workers in the host State. This would, however, come at the cost of more administrative burdens. Research would have to be done on whether the benefits would outweigh the costs. If this is implemented (and if the benefits outweigh the costs), A1-froms will not be necessary anymore and would make

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>201</sup> See par. 3.2.5

the abuse in these forms go away. However, making posted workers always subject to social security legislation of the host State might be an infringement on the freedom to provide services. Considering this and the increased administrative burdens, this might thus not be the ideal solution. An alternative to this might be the reduction of the maximum posting period to 6 months (and within this posting period the posted worker would still be subject to social security legislation of the sending State). This would not equalize the level playing field completely and workers from "cheap" social security countries would still have a competitive advantage over the local workers in the host State. However, the reduction of the posting period might deter companies from getting involved in abusive practices since it only concerns a short period. Next to that, the period would coincide with the period according to the tax rules.<sup>202</sup> This reduction of the posting period has to be investigated to get a good overview of the possible consequences with respect to countering social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms.

It can be seen that there is a strong tension between the social security rules in maintaining the social security legislation of the working State as the basis for equal treatment (where the posting rules are an exception to this), while safeguarding the freedom to provide services.<sup>203</sup> The PWD, the Enforcement Directive as well as the proposal of Thyssen try to balance these rights. If the rules of posting remain the same (possibly with a reduction to the posting period), stronger enforcement rules and penalties/fines are necessary to make sure there is no case of social dumping or abuse of A1-forms. Patrick Liébus<sup>204</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>202</sup> See par. 2.4

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>203</sup> H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid, *Sociale zekerheid en* detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude, p. 416

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>204</sup> President of the European Builders Confederation (EBC)

also states that more has to be done. He states that fair competition and the protection of workers' rights can only be achieved through additional resources for labour inspections, the creation of an electronic database in the EU of A1-forms (for better monitoring and enforcement) and improved collaboration between Member States to combat social fraud and the abuse of A1-forms.<sup>205</sup> An electronic database in the EU with all relevant information concerning posting (company, posted workers, A1-forms, history of workers and companies, (sub)contractors etc.) would be desirable and could lead to stronger enforcement which is so urgently needed in countering of these abusive practices.<sup>206</sup> Besides that, an electronic database can give a clear and comprehensive overview, which in turn leads to better evaluation of checking whether there are abusive practices. The idea of an electronic database is not new. It was already mentioned in Reg. 884/2004 as a task of the Administrative Commission to modernize the exchange of information between institutions.<sup>207</sup>

Administrative Commission with the operation, security and use of standards of this electronic database, was also mentioned. <sup>208</sup> These plans to introduce an electronic database have, however, still not been implemented to date.

In my opinion, more action is necessary and especially in the form of initiating and implementing an electronic database or IMI (including all relevant information with regard to posting, including A1-forms), stronger enforcement and more details with regard to practical application of fines and/or penalties. Bogus self-employment should also be addressed and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>205</sup> EBC, Press release, Posting of workers: European small construction entrepreneurs welcome revision, 2016

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>206</sup> See also par. 4.1 concerning a public website and the IMI

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>207</sup> Art. 72(d) Reg. 883/2004 (see also preamble par. (39) and art. 78 Reg. 883/2004)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>208</sup> Art. 73 Reg. 883/2004 (see also preamble par. (39) and art. 78 Reg. 883/2004)

actions taken by Lodewijk Asscher are a good example on how to address this.<sup>209</sup> Next to that, the Enforcement Directive and the proposal of Thyssen should be implemented and certainly no message should be given to the 'Yellow Card' procedure. The proposal of Thyssen can be seen as a concession and unfortunately not everybody will agree on the proposed measures, but these measures are certainly necessary to counter social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms. It will, however, still be very hard to introduce and implement measures that effectively counter social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms, since the EU rules and regulations are in tension with the freedom to provide services. Completely equalizing the level playing field between posted workers and local workers in the host State is nearly impossible because of the differences in social security legislation, but the gap can and should be narrowed down as much as possible with the proposed measures.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>209</sup> See par. 3.1.1

# 5 Conclusion

The posting of employees is about the sending of employees to another Member State to temporarily work on an employer's behalf in that other Member State. There are multiple regulations and rules which relate to this posting. The most important with respect to social security legislation is art. 12 Reg. 883/2004. If all criteria of this article are fulfilled, a posted worker will remain subject to the social security legislation of the sending State. This is an exception to the main rule, *lex loci laboris*, but was introduced in order to facilitate the freedom to provide services and to avoid administrative burdens that would occur in case the main rule would be applicable.

Unfortunately, the posting rules are used for abusive practices like social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms. Social dumping occurs in many forms, but the main principle involves around the posting of workers from countries where labour and social security are cheap and thereby creating a competitive advantage which leads to unfair competition. The workers involved are often exploited as they are exposed to bad or no social security protection, deplorable wages and inhuman working conditions. Besides social dumping, A1-forms are issued by institutions that post workers to make sure these posted workers remain subject to the social security legislation of the sending State. The abuse with these forms is done by issuing the forms without fulfilling all the necessary criteria of posting, which underlie these A1-forms. The binding status of these posting certificates restrict receiving institutions and/or Member States to do something about these A1-forms. Hence, enforcement of the posting rules are very important in countering these abusive practices.

The central question in this thesis is: "How can social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms effectively be combatted in the European Union?"

Several actions and measures are taken to counter the abusive practices of social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms. The Enforcement Directive, the proposal of Thyssen and the introduction of the European Pillar of Social Rights are important measures in this regard. These measures must make sure that posted workers are better protected with regard to social rights and that unfair competition is reduced. The measures do certainly improve the situation by way of better enforcement and cooperation between Member States, as well as by introducing the principle of 'equal pay for equal work in the same place'. These measures are, however, not enough to effectively combat the abusive practices. In addition with these measures, an electronic database with all relevant information with respect to posting would make it easier for countries to check whether there are genuine or abusive practices. It is about time that this electronic database is really implemented and finalized. Next to that, detailed guidance should be given with respect to penalties and/or fines to deter companies and people from engaging in these abusive practices. Bogus self-employment is also an important issue that should be addressed. In the end, not everybody will agree on the proposed measures and no perfect solution exists. However, the proposed measures with some aforementioned additions, could vastly improve the situation and can be effective in reducing social dumping and the abuse of A1-forms to a minimum.

# 6 Bibliography

## Literature

M. Bernaciak, European Trade Union Institute, *Social dumping and the EU integration process*, Brussels, 2014

F.L.J. Pennings, *European Social Security Law*, 6th edition, Intersentia, Cambridge, United Kingdom, 2015

## Articles

V. Behr, Journal of Law and Commerce, *Rome I Regulation A-mostly-unified* private international law of contractual relationships within-most-of the *European Union*, Vol. 29, 2011, p. 233-272

L. de Broe et al., *Interpretation of Article 15(2)b) of the OECD Model Convention: "Remuneration paid by, or on behalf of, an Employer Who is not a Resident of the Other State"*, Bulletin for international fiscal documentation, IBFD Publications, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Vol. 54 (2000), No 10, p. 503-521

M. Coucheir et al., Training and Reporting on European Social Security (trESS), Ghent University, *Think Tank Report 2008: The relationship and interaction between the coordination Regulations and Directive 2004/38/EC*, 2008

R. Cox, Dagblad de Limburger, De doofpot van de A2-tunnel, 14 June 2014

J. Cremers, European Institute for Construction Labour Research (CLR), Part 1 – Synthesis report (Project VS/2009/0475), *In search of cheap labour in Europe: Working and living conditions of posted workers*, Amsterdam, November 2010

C. Dhéret and A. Ghimis, European Policy Centre (EPC), *Discussion paper* -*The revision of the Posted Workers Directive: towards a sufficient policy adjustment*?, Brussels, 20 April 2016

K. Dziurdz and F. Pötgens, *Cross-Border Short-Term Employment*, Bulletin for international fiscal documentation, IBFD Publications, Amsterdam, Netherlands, No 8, (2014), p. 404-414

European Builders Confederation (EBC), Press release, *Posting of workers: European small construction entrepreneurs welcome revision*, Brussels, 8 March 2016

European Commission (EC), Employment, Social Affairs & Inclusion, *The Commission presents reform of posting of workers – towards a fair and truly European Labour Market*, Brussels, 8 March 2016

European Commission (EC), Fact Sheet, MEMO/16/467, *Revision of the Posting of Workers Directive – frequently asked questions*, Strasbourg, 8 March 2016

European Commission (EC), Press release, IP/16/544, Commission launches a public consultation on the European Pillar of Social Rights, Strasbourg, 8 March 2016

European Commission (EC), Press release, IP/15/4667, *Employment: Commission refers Belgium to Court for refusing certificates of workers affiliated in another Member State*, Brussels, 26 March 2015

European Commission (EC), Press release, IP/14/542, Employment: Commission welcomes Council adoption of Posting of Workers Enforcement Directive, Brussels, 13 May 2014

European Commission (EC), J. Pacolet and F. De Wispelaere, HIVA Research Institute for Work and Society, University of Leuven (KU Leuven), *Posting of workers: Report on A1 portable documents issued in 2014*, Brussels, December 2015

M. Peeperkorn, de Volkskrant, *Asscher: zwicht niet voor 'gele kaart' Oost-Europa*, Netherlands, 3 May 2016 B. Peeters, *Article 15 of the OECD Model Convention on "Income from Employment" and its Undefined Terms"*, Amsterdam, Netherlands, Vol. 44 (2004), No 2/3, p. 72-82

H. Verschueren, Belgisch Tijdschrift voor Sociale Zekerheid (3), *Sociale* zekerheid en detachering binnen de Europese Unie. De zaak Herbosch Kiere: een gemiste kans in de strijd tegen grensoverschrijdende sociale dumping en sociale fraude, 2006, p. 403-449

### Websites

ABVV Algemene Centrale, *Het plan van eurocommissaris Thyssen is 'too little, too late'*, 29 March 2016, consulted on 16 June 2016 < <u>http://www.accg.be/nl/actualiteit/het-plan-van-eurocommissaris-thyssen-is-too-little-too-late</u>>

S. Collyer, www.abcorg.net, *EU Wide Social Dumping Scandal*, 2015, consulted on 16 June 2016 <a href="http://www.abcorg.net/item/531-eu-wide-social-dumping-scandal">http://www.abcorg.net/item/531-eu-wide-social-dumping-scandal</a>

Deredactie.be, *"Verder gaan om sociale dumping tegen te gaan"*, 5 March 2016, consulted on 6 July 2016 < <u>http://deredactie.be/cm/vrtnieuws/economie/1.2591007</u>>

European Commission (EC), *EU citizenship and free movement: Movement and residence*, 2016, consulted on 12 May 2016 <<u>http://ec.europa.eu/justice/citizen/move-live/index\_en.htm</u>>

European Commission (EC), MEMO, *Posting of workers: EU safeguards against social dumping*, Brussels, 2014, consulted on 14 June 2016 < <u>http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release\_MEMO-14-344\_en.htm</u>>

European Federation of Building and Woodworkers (EFBWW), Stop Social Dumping, *Social Dumping and Exploitation*, 2016, consulted on 27 June 2016 <<u>http://www.stopsocialdumping.eu/social-dumping</u>> Eutom, *Sociale dumping: vechten voor plan-Thyssen*, Strasbourg, 10 May 2016, consulted on 28 June 2016

< http://www.eutom.eu/sociale-dumping-vechten-plan-thyssen/>

E. Vaccarino & Z. Darvas, Bruegel, "Social Dumping" and posted workers: a new clash within the EU, 2016, consulted on 16 June 2016 <<u>http://bruegel.org/2016/03/social-dumping-and-posted-workers-a-new-clash-within-the-eu/</u>>

Financieel Dagblad, '*Misstanden bij aanleg centrale as Friesland*', 2016, consulted on 29 June 2016

< <u>http://fd.nl/economie-politiek/1157367/misstanden-bij-aanleg-centrale-as-friesland</u>>

S. Hägglund & W. Buelen, European Federation of Building and Woodworkers (EFBWW), *A new case of social dumping and exploitation of workers by Atlanco Rimec*, Brussels, 2013, consulted on 16 June 2016 <<u>http://www.efbww.org/default.asp?index=889</u>>

S. Hägglund & W. Buelen, European Federation of Building and Woodworkers (EFBWW), *Another Shocking documentary on cross-border social dumping practices of Atlanco Rimec*, 2014, consulted on 16 June 2016 <<u>http://www.efbww.org/default.asp?Index=931&Language=EN</u>>

H. Heuts, 1limburg, *Nog geen maatregelen tegen topmannen bouwer A2-tunnel*, 2016, consulted on 27 June 2016 <<u>http://www.1limburg.nl/nog-geen-maatregelen-tegen-topmannen-bouwer-a2-tunnel?context=related-21982></u>

T. Miessen, Confederation of Christian Trade Unions (ACV), europeinfos, *Red card against social dumping – Can the EU establish a European labour market with a fairer deal for the mobility of workers?*, #194, June 2016, consulted on 30 June 2016

<http://www.europe-infos.eu/red-card-against-social-dumping>

S. Peers, EU Law Analysis, *The Fake Client: The case that bamboozled the CJEU*, 22 December 2015, consulted on 5 July 2016 <<u>http://eulawanalysis.blogspot.nl/2015/12/the-fake-client-case-that-bamboozled.html</u>>

Rijksoverheid, *Maatregelen tegen schijnconstructies*, 2016, consulted on 5 July 2016

<<u>https://www.rijksoverheid.nl/onderwerpen/aanpak-</u> schijnconstructies/inhoud/maatregelen-tegen-schijnconstructies></u>

SVB, International Secondment General conditions for A1/(E)101 certificate applications, 2016, consulted on 17 June 2016 <<u>https://www.svb.nl/int/en/id/direct\_regelen/e\_101\_aanvragen/voorwaarden\_aa</u> nvraag\_a1\_e101\_verklaring.jsp>

J. de Wrede and C.M. Hermesdorf, De Kempenaer Advocaten, *De aanpak van schijnzelfstandigheid: van VAR naar Modelovereenkomst*, 25 April 2016, consulted on 5 July 2016

<<u>http://www.dekempenaer.nl/kennis/de-aanpak-van-schijnzelfstandigheid-van-var-naar-modelovereenkomst/></u>

## Secondary Sources of EU Law

Directive 96/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 1996 concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services, PbEU 1996

Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 29 April 2004 on the coordination of social security systems, PbEU 2004

Regulation (EC) No 593/2008 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 on the law applicable to contractual obligations (Rome I), PbEU 2008, L 177/6

Decision No A1 of 12 June 2009 concerning the establishment of a dialogue and conciliation procedure concerning the validity of documents, the determination of the applicable legislation and the provision of benefits under Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council, PbEU 2010, C 106/01

Decision No A2 of 12 June 2009 concerning the interpretation of Article 12 of Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 of the European Parliament and of the Council on the legislation applicable to posted workers and self-employed workers temporarily working outside the competent State, PbEU 2010, C 106/5

Regulation (EC) No 987/2009 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 laying down the procedure for implementing Regulation (EC) No 883/2004 on the coordination of social security systems, PbEU 2009

Decision No 1/2012 of the Joint Committee established under the agreement between the European Community and its Member States, of the one part, and the Swiss Confederation, of the other, on the free movement of persons of 31 March 2012, (2012/195/EU)

Directive 2014/67/EU of the European Parliament and of the Council of 15 May 2014 on the enforcement of Directive 96/71/EC concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services and amending Regulation (EU) No 1024/2012 on administrative cooperation through the Internal Market Information System ('IMI Regulation'), PbEU 2014

European Commission (EC), Proposal for a Directive of the European Parliament and of the Council amending Directive 96/71/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 16 December 1996 concerning the posting of workers in the framework of the provision of services, 2016/0070, Strasbourg, 8 March 2016

## **Case Law**

Van de Bijl v. Staatssecretaris van Economische Zaken, C-130/88, Judgement of the Court (Sixth Chamber), 27 September 1989

Fitzwilliam Executive Search Ltd, trading under the name of 'Fitzwilliam Technical Services (FTS)' v. Bestuur van het Landelijk Instituut Sociale Verzekeringen, C-202/97, Judgment of the Court, 10 February 2000

Barry Banks and Others v. Théâtre Royal de la Monnaie, C-178/97, Judgment of the Court (Fifth Chamber), 30 March 2000

Herbosch Kiere NV v. Rijksdienst voor Sociale Zekerheid , C-2/05, Judgment of the Court (Fourth Chamber), 26 January 2006

Bogdan Chain v. Atlanco, C-189/14, request for a preliminary ruling from the Eparchiako Dikastirio Lefkosias, 11 June 2015

European Commission (EC), *Met redenen omkleed advies*, Inbreuk nr. 2013/2129, C(2014)6623final, Brussel, (still pending)

# 7 Appendix Annex I



#### 2. MEMBER STATE LEGISLATION WHICH APPLIES

2.1	Member State		
2.2	Starting date	2.3	Ending date
2.4	The certificate applies for the duration of the activ	vity	
2.5	5 The determination is provisional		
2.6	Transitional rules apply as provided for by Regulation	n (EC)	No 883/2004

(") Regulations (EC) No 863/2004, Articles 11 through 16, and Regulation (EC) No 967/2009, Article 19.

(\*\*) For Spain, Sweden and Portugal, the certificate must be handed over to, respectively, the head provincial offices of social security National Institute (INSS), the social insurance institution and the social security institution of the place of residence.

(\*\*\*) Information given to the institution by the holder when this is not known by the institution.



#### 4. DETAILS OF EMPLOYER/SELF-EMPLOYMENT

	4.1.1 Employee		4.1.2 Self-empl	loyed activity	
4.2	Employer/self-employed	activity code			
4.3	Name or business name				
4.4	Registered address				
4.4.1	Street, N°			4.4.2 Country code	
4.4.3	3 Town			4.4.4 Post code	

#### 5. DETAILS OF EMPLOYER/SELF-EMPLOYMENT WHERE AN ACTIVITY IS PURSUED

5.1 Name(s) or business name(s) and code(s) of the firm(s) or ship(s) or the home base(s) where you will be employed

5.2 Address(es) or name(s) of ship(s) or the home base(s) where you will be (self) employed in the 'host' State(s)

5.3 Or no fixed address in State(s) of (self)employment



	Coordination of Social Security Systems
A1	Certificate concerning the social security legislation which applies to the holder
6. INS	STITUTION COMPLETING THE FORM
6.1	Name
6.2	Street, N°
6.3	Town
6.4	Post code 6.5 Country code
6.6	Institution ID
6.7	Office fax N°
6.8	Office phone N°
6.9	E-mail
	Date
6.11	Signature
STAN	AP

3/3

Total	g. 159753	R. 3267	3, 17165	a. 10869	g. 414220			4744	a. 44826	190848	a, 4561		444	1504	<b>a</b> , 1930		g. 8966	1, 1063	L 87821	g. 101034	14521		3, 9717					ň	<b>a</b> . 338			B7492	1 58717	1 1454687	
9	5	3	<b>8</b>	a Ba	3	a, D.a		5	3	3	3	e. G.a	3	3	89 69	e. Ga	3	3	3	en S	3	e. G.a	e. Ga		e. Ga						a, D.a.	a, Da	Ħ	2 10851	
5	3	3	3	ğ	age a		0.0	3	: 3	3	3	e.a	3	3	3	eğ o	2 0.8		ag a	e ora	3	e, e	eğ o	e, e	ag T	eg o		6 0.a	0.a.	ğ	3	3	0 3252	3252	
3		Ĩ	•		9 4		Ĭ	ľ	2	19 22	Ĭ	22	Ĭ		Ĭ				m				Ĭ			Ĭ		18	Ĭ		ž.	ŝ		140 89	
UK IS	eğ	еў	ся С	ġ	ĕ	ġ	е,	e e	e'e		ġ		ĕ	ġ	с, В.	ġ	ĕ	ġ	ě	B	ĕ	ĕ	ġ	ĕ	ġ	0'ğ			0'ğ			ġ	10551	11 10	
							12				57														9			11	-		908		0 23	4182 235	
SE	57	14	77			67	9	11		124	5	123	ŝ													•			7				•	2786 4:	
SK FI	4398		7023						264		127				ñ											701		778	_	71		111	•	810 2	
SI	746 4		192 7		m		17		496	1					m						191		227		381		507 2		•			2278 1	•	102920 73	
	5274 4		178			12	66	148			23 1				14					N					125		862		•		372		•	7194 102	
	13818 5	98	78		2		106		~	33867 8					•		14			984 1		•						629	•		403		•	4735 57	
4	25237 13	259	2059	1706		807	477	107							913		1252			5989		62	458	293	1531	3017	10417	3985	5	R	3725	2427	•	266745 7/	
AT	745	105	213	238	-	ę	3	26	1037		419	958	m	149	m	205	734			7	278	444	457	528	446	238	314	694	5	202	837	4224	3723	41114 20	
	19219		117						856 1																	29		1717			218		0	37775 41	
	12 19									9																			•				•	145 37	
	3981	9	294	142	6983	•	121	ŝ	312	2188	399	352	•	9	2	243	•	•	1922	14837	273	9	691	142	316	둲	816	586	•	H	277	653	•	5655	
3	20119 3	76	112		9020 36	m		7	403		80						둸			÷,		82	59	77	8	8		201	ø	4	2	653	•	0345 6	
5	451 20	9	m	105	5087	130	ŝ	-	11			8	2	342	•	Ħ	•	•	1467	17	•	18	m	•	•	1471	1366	Ħ	•	•	4132		•	16683 50	
B	8		'n			R	а	H	52			108 108	-1		ន		m		23	3	9					_		17				76	•	1655 1(	
5	4		•			9	•			•					•					<b>9</b>			_			•	•		•	•	•		•	114	
E			276						2682	Ħ	408				17							210				144			-	σ		33844	°	69279	
Ħ	648		328		÷,				1 105						36						571				1 179			-	°		2		°	24060	
	32148		1597						11454						105											743			81				-	119727	Succore
ង	3211	276	909	472	10480	11	782	313	•	26252	125	5764	58	27	32	147	415	2	2250	701	1822	7008	1230	88	289	형	685	9757	10	2	13	1754		76286	
E	8	8	2	18	1320	2	-		R	231	2		3	•	•	-	2	•	78	7	Ħ	-	2	•	2	4	Ħ	22	2	•	•	64	•	2325	s Is
E	395		o	16	468			4	8	178		5	-			o	S		317	ø	ß	ø	m		4	279	369	744	+		236	8		3261	sted e person persor
5	27			'n	362		•		5	R	•	47	•		9				8	4	m		•	2	•	5081	447			•	~	89	•	7147	for po sloyed sloyed
ä		934	3469	4659	•	1069	1107	1277	11180	23578	1069	9766	381		202	10267	1839	405	30162	27029	5411	1917	2925			2425		=		132	4098	0.3 29249	3869 12146	3869 232776 7147	* BE: Breakdown only for posted employed * DE: DVKA: only employed persons * FR: Only posted employed persons
ă	a B		<b>8</b> 9	<b>8</b>	g	a B	e. B						<b>8</b>	a B	6.9 B	e. B	e. B				g		<b>8</b> 9		<b>8</b> 9			0.a	6.9				m	3869	Eakdow KA: or ly post
ß	<del>6</del>	74		2	4125	=	1	102	163	798	45	<b>64</b> 9	m	-	16	Ħ	108	\$	273	1332	171	46	172	57				319	2			279	•	10380	505 505
g	0 1896		2	848	7 6554	•	5	1 681	8 78	5 610	0	1 238	30	4	1 42	9	18	1	3 692	s 524	65	8	3 249	22	5 105			7 843		•		123	0	58611 13275 10380	***
띪	•	45	223	238	6067	21	118	124	1718	21025	47	1494	32	5	4	6046	167	5	14993	448	244	199	8	11	1	6	344	1807	18		213	1258	1375		
	38	8	Ø	ă	ä	33	E.	E	<u>د</u>	e,	ЯH	E			5 ste							Ы	ð	5	×	ī.	S,	ž	2	2	9	5	ġ	Tota	

Annex II

PDs A1 issued by sending Member States, breakdown by receiving Member State, 2014

67

R.M.J. Vogel

## Annex III





Source Administrative data PD A1 Questionnaire 2015 and previous years